STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

THERRON RENARD RICHARDSON,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-000114

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ADAM SINCLAIR RUFFIN
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

MAR 13 2020

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred in admitting evidence found in Appellant's residence where law enforcement's warrantless entry was based solely on a 911 call reporting a domestic violence in progress and the officers observed no corroborating evidence when they arrived at the occupantless residence, and therefore the entry was not reasonable under the exigent-circumstances exception to the Fourth Amendment?

2.

Whether the court erred in admitting evidence found in Appellant's residence where law enforcement exceeded the scope of a protective sweep by conducting a field test on white powder found in the bathroom, which was unrelated to the purpose of their initial entry, prior to obtaining a search warrant and the results of the field test were used as a basis for obtaining the search warrant, and therefore was not covered under the plain-view doctrine?

3.

Whether the court erred in admitting evidence found in Appellant's residence where law enforcement was responding to a domestic violence call and the evidence was not found in plain view in a room in which the police were "interviewing, detaining, or pursuing a suspect" under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-70(H)(1)(a), and therefore the evidence found was inadmissible under the statute?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Charleston County grand jury for trafficking cocaine, four counts of possession of a firearm by a person convicted of a crime of violence, and one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 583-588. Appellant's first jury trial was held before the Honorable Stephanie McDonald on November 13 – 15, 2012. At that time, Appellant was represented by Donna K. Taylor and D. Lynn Bowley. The state was represented by Emmanuel Ferguson and Culver Kidd. Appellant was convicted as charged and sentenced to thirty years imprisonment for the trafficking cocaine offense and five years imprisonment for each of the weapons charges. One of the weapons sentences was ordered to be served consecutively to the cocaine sentence.

Appellant appealed his convictions and was represented by Robert Pachak of Appellate Defense. The Court of Appeals affirmed finding the issue was not preserved for appellate review. State v. Richardson, Op. No. 2014-UP-471 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Dec. 8, 2014). Appellant then filed a post-conviction relief action which was granted by the Honorable John C. Hayes, III. The state filed a petition for a writ of certiorari which was denied by the Supreme Court on May 24, 2018.

The state called Appellant's case for retrial on January 14 – 16, 2019 before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., R. 193. At his retrial, Appellant was represented by Rodney D. Davis and Daniel Summa. The state was represented by J. Whitney Sowards and Lauren M. Frierson. Appellant was convicted as charged and again given an aggregate thirty-five years imprisonment.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appeal of a trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress evidence based on Fourth Amendment grounds is reviewed for clear error only. State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010). The appellate courts must affirm if there is any evidence to support the decision of the trial judge. State v. Provet, 405 S.C. 101, 107, 747 S.E.2d 453, 456 (2013). "However, this deference does not bar this Court from conducting its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge's decision is supported by the evidence." Tindall, 388 S.C. at 521, 698 S.E.2d at 205 citing State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 70, 572 S.E.2d 456, 459 (2002).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 17, 2010, Jason Bowen and Julius Alexander, both with the Charleston County Sheriff's Department, were dispatched to an "in-progress domestic call." R. 25, ll. 6 – 22; R. 111, ll. 21 – 25. Specifically, the information they received was that "a female caller had locked herself in a bathroom and that a male subject was trying to get to her." R. 26, ll. 5 – 12. Although the caller gave an address located in West Ashley, the police knew that the phone call originated from a location in downtown Charleston which was not in the vicinity of the address given by the caller. R. 158, l. 15 – 159, l. 10. The 911 dispatcher contacted Charleston City Police Department to ask them to respond to the location in downtown Charleston where the cell phone call originated. R. 159, l. 11 – 160, l. 16.

When Bowen and Alexander arrived at the address that was reported in West Ashley by the 911 caller, Bowen approached the front door and knocked but did not get any response. R. 27, l. 8 – 28, l. 2. Bowen and Alexander both admitted that they did not see anyone else when they arrived at the residence nor did they hear any noise coming from inside. R. 29, l. 7 – 30, l. 7; R. 115, ll. 2 – 8. Alexander claimed that when he walked around to the back of the home, the back sliding-glass door was "slightly cracked open." R. 115, ll. 2 – 8.

Bowen and Alexander then made a warrantless entry into the home while announcing that they were with the Sheriff's Office. R. 31, ll. 9 – 13; R. 116, l. 23 – 117, l. 8. As the deputies entered the home, they swept the rooms to search for any people inside. R. 31, l. 21 – 32, l. 1. Bowen stated that the reason he felt it was necessary to enter the home was because "we didn't know if there might be a person harmed in the residence that needed aid or some type of harm actively occurring that we needed to put a stop to." R. 32, ll. 2 – 12. They did not locate anyone inside the home despite looking in all the rooms, closets and bathrooms. R. 32, l. 19 – 33, l. 16.

Bowen claimed that in one of the bathrooms there was a “drug-type scale that had some white residue on it.” R. 33, ll. 20 – 22. He also said he found a safe in the closet that had “money strewn out on the floor in front of it” and that there was a bank bag with a “large number of cash bills in it.” R. 33, l. 23 – 34, l. 1. Bowen further claimed that there were “guns laid out in a very particular fashion under the bed.” R. 34, ll. 2 – 3. Bowen and Alexander’s supervisor, Andrea Moniz, also responded to the scene. Moniz admitted that she performed a field test on the white residue which was presumptively positive for cocaine. R. 440, l. 4 – 441, l. 6; R. 444, l. 12 – 445, l. 10.

Thomas Plyler with the Charleston County Sheriff’s Office prepared the search warrant in this case based on the information relayed to him from Bowen and Alexander. R. 133, l. 21 – 134, l. 9; R. 137, ll. 13 – 24. Plyler admitted that prior to getting the search warrant he was informed that a field test was performed on the white residue found in the bathroom of the home which came back presumptively positive for cocaine. R. 137, l. 25 – 138, l. 14. Plyler included the positive field test in his affidavit that he presented to the magistrate in order to obtain the search warrant. R. 137, l. 25 – 138, l. 14; R. 571. Upon executing the search warrant, officers discovered just over two kilograms of cocaine. R. 367, ll. 17 – 24.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred in admitting evidence found in Appellant's residence because law enforcement's warrantless entry was based solely on a 911 call reporting a domestic violence in progress and the officers observed no corroborating evidence when they arrived at the occupantless residence, and therefore the entry was not reasonable under the exigent-circumstances exception to the Fourth Amendment.

Relevant Facts for Issues 1 – 3

Defense counsel made a pre-trial motion to suppress all the evidence obtained in the search of Appellant's house. A hearing was held on January 10, 2019 before the Honorable Roger M. Young. R. 1 – 192.

At the end of the hearing defense counsel argued that the initial entry into Appellant's home was warrantless and unreasonable. R. 164, l. 24 – 165, l. 2. Specifically, what the officers independently observed when they arrived on scene and what they were told by dispatch was insufficient for a warrantless entry. R. 165, ll. 3 – 10. Counsel pointed out that when the officers arrived on scene there was nothing broken, and they did not hear any sounds coming from the house. R. 165, ll. 11 – 12. When they knocked on the door there was no response and they even took the time to get a phone number off a work truck parked outside and call it in. In other words, defense counsel argued that the officers' actions demonstrated that they were not in a rush to get inside. R. 165, ll. 12 – 15. Counsel further argued that the search was unreasonable both under the Fourth Amendment and the right to privacy under the South Carolina Constitution. R. 165, ll. 20 – 24.

Defense counsel then argued that even if the initial entry was not unreasonable, the officers exceeded the scope of a protective sweep by conducting a field test on the white residue.

R. 169, ll. 1 – 25. Counsel pointed out that the officers' stated reason for going into the house was to search for a possible victim in need of aid or a suspect. R. 169, ll. 6 – 10. However, after clearing the house and confirming that there were no victims or suspects present, the officers proceeded to do a field test on the white residue found in the bathroom which exceeded the scope of the protective sweep. R. 169, ll. 19 – 23.

The judge ruled that the officers' initial entry of the home was reasonable because of exigent circumstances. R. 171, l. 2 – 172, l. 11. Specifically, the court found that the 911 call from a woman who alleged she was hiding in the bathroom from her boyfriend which then got disconnected made it reasonable for the officers to make a warrantless entry under the exigent-circumstances exception. "[T]here could have been a dead body, or there could have been an unconscious body, somebody who couldn't respond. Maybe they were tied up or bound up or hidden in a closet or hidden in a room." R. 171, ll. 20 – 23.

The court also ruled that the money, guns, and white powder on the scale in the bathroom, were observed by the officers in plain view, and were enough for the officers to have probable cause to get a warrant. R. 173, ll. 8 – 18. Defense counsel agreed that if the court found that the officers' warrantless entry was reasonable under exigent circumstances that the money, guns, and white powder were all seen in plain view. R. 178, l. 21 – 179, l. 3. However, defense counsel argued that when the officers performed a field test on the white powder, they exceeded the scope of the protective sweep because it was unrelated to the purpose of their initial entry and they were beginning a new and unrelated drug investigation. R. 179, ll. 4 – 19.

Lastly, defense counsel argued that the evidence should have been suppressed based on S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-70(H) because it was discovered during a warrantless search and the officers were not interviewing, detaining, or pursuing a domestic violence suspect. R. 183, l. 20 – 184, l. 13. The assistant solicitor responded that the officers' primary reason for the

warrantless entry was to render aid to a potential victim and not to pursue a domestic violence suspect. R. 187, ll. 11 – 19. The assistant solicitor further argued that the officers did not make entry pursuant to the domestic violence statute but instead made entry under the exigent-circumstances exception. R. 189, ll. 2 – 7.

Regarding the exigent-circumstances exception, the assistant solicitor maintained that the 911 call from a woman claiming to have locked herself in a bathroom in fear of her boyfriend was enough for the officers to enter the home without a warrant. R. 189, l. 8 – 190, l. 4. “I don’t think they had the luxury of waiting for a search warrant at that point.” R. 190, ll. 2 – 4. In response to defense counsel’s argument about exceeding the scope of the protective sweep, the assistant solicitor argued that law enforcement needed to do a field test before getting a warrant:

Detective Plyler testified that he would have insisted that they obtain a field test because he’s not going to go to a magistrate and ask for a search warrant based on cocaine residue *unless he knows that’s what it is*. Or at least with a high degree of certainty based on a field test that that’s what that substance is.

R. 191, ll. 2 – 7 (emphasis added). Judge Young took the matter under advisement and ultimately denied defense counsel’s motion to suppress. R. 570. Specifically, Judge Young ruled that exigent circumstances justified the initial warrantless entry and that the evidence which was seized after entry was not in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-70(H) because the items “were not seized as a result of a warrantless search but rather were the result of a search warrant issued upon a finding of probable cause by a magistrate.” R. 570.

During the state’s case in chief in front of Judge Dennis, defense counsel renewed all his pretrial objections to the search of Appellant’s residence prior to the testimony of Deputy Ferguson. R. 334, ll. 7 – 20. The reason for this was that all the items seized in the search of Appellant’s home were to be admitted through Ferguson. The court noted defense counsel’s objection and overruled it. R. 335, ll. 1 – 25. As the state sought to introduce the evidence

obtained from the search of Appellant's residence, including the cocaine that was found, defense counsel renewed his prior objections on the record. R. 349, l. 21 – 350, l. 15; R. 354, ll. 9 – 25; R. 357, ll. 1 – 5; R. 360, l. 8 – 361, l. 2; R. 364, l. 8 – 365, l. 16; R. 372, l. 22 – 373, l. 4. This evidence was introduced over counsel's objection.

Discussion

“The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures.” State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 643, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001). When evidence against a criminal defendant is obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment it cannot be used against him in court. Weeks v. United States, 232 U.S. 383 (1914). The Supreme Court of the United States made this exclusionary rule applicable to the States in Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643 (1961). “Therefore, all citizens enjoy this federal constitutional protection in every criminal proceeding.” Forrester, 343 S.C. at 643, 541 S.E.2d at 840.

The South Carolina Constitution also contains a provision protecting people from unreasonable searches and seizures. S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. However, our State Constitution goes further than the United States Constitution by including an express right of the people against “unreasonable invasions of privacy.” Id. “Thus, this Court can interpret the state protection against unreasonable searches and seizures in such a way as to provide greater protection than the federal Constitution.” Forrester, 343 S.C. at 644, 541 S.E.2d at 840.

“It is a basic principle of Fourth Amendment law that searches and seizures inside a home without a warrant are presumptively unreasonable.” Brigham City, Utah v. Stuart, 547 U.S. 398, 403 (2006) (internal quotations omitted). One exception to the warrant requirement of the Fourth Amendment is when “the exigencies of the situation make the needs of law enforcement so compelling that the warrantless search is objectively reasonable.” Mincey v. Arizona, 437 U.S. 385, 393-394 (1978) (internal quotations omitted). The Supreme Court has

specifically applied this exigent-circumstances exception in holding that a warrantless entry of a home is constitutionally permissible if the officer has an objectively reasonable belief that an occupant is seriously injured or in imminent danger. Brigham City, Utah, 547 U.S. at 400.

In this case, the officers did not have an objectively reasonable belief that there was an injured person inside the residence in need of immediate aid. The officers only had information that a woman called 911 to report that she locked herself in a bathroom to get away from her boyfriend and the address that was given by the caller. However, when the officers arrived on scene, they saw nothing that corroborated the phone call. Both officers testified that they did not hear any noise coming from inside the house. R. 29, l. 7 – 30, l. 7; R. 115, ll. 2 – 8. They knocked on the door several times and did not get a response. R. 27, l. 8 – 28, l. 2.

Furthermore, and importantly, the 911 dispatcher was aware that the caller making these allegations had called from a phone which “pinged” off a cell tower in downtown Charleston, even though the address reported by the caller was in West Ashley, several miles away. The 911 dispatcher found this fact significant enough to report it to the Charleston City Police Department to ask them to investigate the location from which the call appeared to have originated. R. 158, l. 8 – 160, l. 8.

This demonstrates that the state, through the 911 dispatcher, was aware of the dubious nature of the call. They had enough reason to doubt the location given by the caller to send law enforcement officers to a different location several miles away. This fact negates any perceived exigency on the part of the state because they understood the call may have been phony.

In Brigham City, Utah v. Stuart, 547 U.S. 398 (2006), the Supreme Court found that officers’ warrantless entry into a home was reasonable under the exigent-circumstances exception. When officers arrived on scene in Brigham City, they were responding to a call of a loud party at a residence. When they arrived, “they observed two juveniles drinking beer in the

backyard” and they also saw a fight break out inside the residence through the window. Specifically, one officer recalled: “[F]our adults were attempting, with some difficulty, to restrain a juvenile. The juvenile eventually broke free, swung a fist and struck one of the adults in the face.” Id. at 401 (internal quotations omitted). After the officers witnessed this, they entered the residence and subsequently arrested some of the adults with contributing to the delinquency of minors, among other charges. Id.

The Brigham City Court held that an officer’s subjective reasons for entering a house are irrelevant in determining whether their warrantless entry comports with the Fourth Amendment. Id. Instead, the Court found that the officers’ warrantless entry was objectively reasonable there because, after witnessing the fight breaking out inside through the window, “the officers had an objectively reasonable basis for believing both that the injured adult might need help and that the violence in the kitchen was just beginning.” Id. at 406.

The Supreme Court again dealt with the exigent-circumstances exception in Michigan v. Fisher, 558 U.S. 45 (2009). In that case, officers responded to a complaint of a disturbance and when they arrived, they were directed to a home where a man “was going crazy” and found the home to be in disarray. Id. at 45. Officers found a truck in the driveway with its front end smashed and blood on the hood as well as one of the doors to the house. Id. at 45-46. Officers observed a man inside the home through a window who was screaming, throwing things, and bleeding from a cut on his hand. Id. at 46. When an officer began making a warrantless entry into the home, he saw the man pointing a “long gun at him.” Id.

The Fisher Court found the officer’s warrantless entry reasonable:

A straightforward application of the emergency aid exception, as in *Brigham City*, dictates that the officer’s entry was reasonable. Just as in *Brigham City*, when they arrived on the scene they encountered a tumultuous situation in the house – and here they also found signs of a recent injury, perhaps from a car accident, outside. And just as in *Brigham City*, the officers could see violent

behavior inside. Although Officer Goolsby and his partner did not see punches thrown, as did the officers in *Brigham City*, they did see Fisher screaming and throwing things. It would be objectively reasonable to believe that Fisher's projectiles might have a human target (perhaps a spouse or a child), or that Fisher would hurt himself in the course of his rage.

Id. at 48. See also State v. Herring, 387 S.C. 201, 692 S.E.2d 490 (2009) (finding officer's peeking into defendant's garage window was justified by exigent circumstances where a murder had just occurred at a bar and officers knew defendant's license tag number, home address, and when they arrived at his home they saw a light on in the garage); State v. Abdullah, 357 S.C. 344, 592 S.E.2d 344 (Ct. App. 2004) (finding that officer's entry of residence to render aid to possible victims was justified under exigent circumstances exception where they responded to a burglary in progress with shots fired and upon arrival they observed the defendant in the doorway who was uncooperative with their demands and also saw bullet holes in the walls of the apartment).

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