**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-000114

---

**RECEIVED**  
FEB 27 2020  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

THERRON RENARD RICHARDSON,

---

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

SCOTT MATTHEWS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400  
OT Wallace Building  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843)-958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial judge properly admitted the drug evidence found inside Appellant's home because law enforcement lawfully entered Appellant's home under the exigent circumstances of locating and assisting a victim of an ongoing domestic violence attack or locating a suspect of domestic violence.**

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in admitting the drug evidence found inside Appellant's home because law enforcement's warrantless entry into Appellant's home was not reasonable under the exigent circumstances exception to the Fourth Amendment. Appellant's argument is meritless. Law enforcement lawfully entered Appellant's residence to search for a potential victim inside in need of immediate assistance, or an assailant. The warrantless entry was objectively reasonable for law enforcement to ensure that no one inside was in immediate danger. During their search for a victim or assailant, Bowen and Alexander noticed what they suspected to be cocaine in plain view. Once they completed their search for a potential victim or assailant, law enforcement waited until a search warrant could be obtained before searching any further inside Appellant's home. Law enforcement's entry into Appellant's home was reasonable under the exigent circumstances exception to the Fourth Amendment.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution protects "the right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. Const. amend. IV. Similarly, the South Carolina Constitution also protects citizens "against unreasonable searches and seizures and unreasonable invasions of privacy." S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. However, the Fourth Amendment only prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures. State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977). "Therefore the touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness." Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991). "To be reasonable is not to be perfect, and so the Fourth Amendment allows for some mistakes on the

part of government officials, giving them 'fair leeway for enforcing the law in the community's protection.'" Heien v. North Carolina, 574 U.S. 54, 60-61 (2014)(quoting Brinegar v. United States, 338 U.S. 160, 176 (1949)). "Generally, a warrantless search is *per se* unreasonable and violates the Fourth Amendment prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures." State v. Weaver, 374 S.C. 313, 319, 649 S.E.2d 479, 482 (2007). However, a warrantless search "will withstand constitutional scrutiny where the search falls within one of several well-recognized exceptions to the warrant requirement." Id.

One of the recognized exceptions to the warrant requirement is the exigent circumstances doctrine. "The exigent circumstances doctrine provides an exception to the Fourth Amendment's protection against warrantless searches, but only where from an objective standard, a compelling need for official action and no time to secure a warrant exist." State v. Abdullah, 357 S.C. 344, 351, 592 S.E.2d 344, 348 (Ct. App. 2004). "A warrantless search is justified under the exigent circumstances doctrine to prevent a suspect from fleeing or where there is a risk of danger to police or others inside or outside a dwelling." State v. Herring, 387 S.C. 201, 210, 692 S.E.2d 490, 495 (2009). "One exigency obviating the requirement of a warrant is the need to assist persons who are seriously injured or threatened with such injury." Brigham City, Utah v. Stuart, 547 U.S. 398, 403 (2006).

Here, law enforcement received a call from a female caller who reported that she was seeking refuge in a bathroom from an in-progress domestic attack. (R. 11, 32, 577-82, State's Exhibit #3). Bowen and Alexander each testified that an ongoing domestic violence attack is a dangerous situation for both a potential victim and for law enforcement. (R. 32, 116-17). Alexander opined that a domestic violence call was one of the more dangerous calls that law enforcement receives and called such calls "the number one cop killer." (R. 112, line 12). This

particular call carried a heightened urgency because the phone call had been disconnected. (R. 57, 114). Alexander feared that the caller could be “harmed or tied up or even death (sic) at that point.” (R. 114, lines 16-17).

It is objectively reasonable for law enforcement to enter a home without a warrant to prevent an attack that is in progress. Appellant argues the trial judge erred in admitting the evidence found in Appellant’s home because law enforcement saw nothing on the scene that corroborated the phone call. (Initial Brief of Appellant 10). Appellant’s argument establishes an impossible standard for law enforcement to follow that is not required by our State or Federal Constitutions. Law enforcement is not expected to be perfect, nor are they held to a standard of omniscience. Law enforcement does not have to wait outside a residence where they think an ongoing assault is taking place or may have taken place until they hear a noise coming from the house or get someone to answer the door as Appellant argues in his brief. (Initial Brief of Appellant 10). Bowen and Alexander would have been negligent if they had remained outside during an ongoing assault. Bowen and Alexander properly entered Appellant’s home in order to prevent what they believed to be an ongoing assault.

Appellant further argues that any exigency was negated because 911 operator Miriam Cousino subsequently noticed a discrepancy in the location of the cell phone that made the 911 call. However, Appellant ignores the fact that this discrepancy was not discovered until approximately fifteen minutes after Bowen and Alexander arrived at Appellant’s address. (R. 167, 577-82). Furthermore, Appellant also ignores the fact that neither Alexander nor Bowen knew about the GPS discrepancy. (R. 29-30, 160-61). However, trial counsel for Appellant acknowledged at trial that the GPS discrepancy was never reported to Bowen and Alexander. (R. 166). On appeal, Appellant attempts to impute knowledge of the discrepancy to Bowen and

Alexander based on what a 911 operator discovered 15 minutes after Bowen and Alexander arrived at Appellant's residence. Even if Bowen and Alexander had learned of the discrepancy, their supervisor testified that the protocol of the Sheriff's Office would have required them to enter the property to search for a victim or suspect anyway. (R. 444). Judge Young properly recognized that it was objectively reasonable for Bowen and Alexander to enter Appellant's home when he made the following ruling during the suppression hearing:

The Court: And I think there's plenty of evidence based on what I heard today that says they had exigent circumstances to go into that house to look to see if there was, in fact, somebody who was the victim of a domestic violence crime.

(R. 172, lines 7-11). Because there is evidence in the record to support Judge Young's ruling, Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

## II.

**Because Appellant did not challenge the validity of the search warrant used to search his home at trial, any issue relating to the validity of the search warrant or evidence seized pursuant to the search warrant is not preserved for appeal. However, the evidence seized from Appellant's bathroom was properly admitted against him pursuant to the plain view exception to the warrant requirement because its incriminating nature was immediately apparent to law enforcement. However, even if the trial judge erred in admitting the evidence found in Appellant's bathroom, any error was harmless because the majority of the drugs introduced against Appellant at trial were obtained as the result of a properly executed search warrant.**

Appellant next argues the trial judge erred in admitting the evidence found in Appellant's home because law enforcement exceeded the scope of their search under the plain view exception to the Fourth Amendment by conducting a field test on the white powder found in Appellant's bathroom. Accordingly, Appellant argues the positive field test was improperly used as a basis of the warrant. Appellant's argument fails for three reasons. First, Appellant did not challenge the validity of the search warrant at trial. (R. 334-35). Therefore, any issue as to the validity of the search warrant and whether the trial judge erred by admitting the results of the

search warrant is not preserved for appeal. If Appellant had challenged the sufficiency of the search warrant, the presence of white powder on a scale with money and guns lying on the floor would have been sufficient for a magistrate to find probable cause existed to search the residence regardless of whether law enforcement had performed a field test on the powder. Secondly, to the extent Appellant is arguing the trial judge erred in admitting the results of the field test or erred in admitting the drugs found on the scale in Appellant's bathroom<sup>1</sup>, the trial judge appropriately denied Appellant's motion because the drugs found on the scale in Appellant's bathroom were properly seized under the plain view exception to the warrant requirement. Bowen and Alexander had a right to be in Appellant's home to search for a victim or suspect of domestic violence, and the incriminating nature of the white powder on a scale with money and guns on the floor was immediately apparent to them. (R. 34). Therefore, law enforcement was entitled to immediately seize the suspected drug material and perform a field test on it. Third, even if the trial judge erred in admitting the cocaine found on the scale or the results of the field test, any error is entirely harmless because approximately two kilograms of cocaine were subsequently found inside Appellant's residence pursuant to a search warrant that Appellant did not challenge. (R. 365-67). Therefore, the results of the trial would not have been any different had the small amount of drugs on the scale or the field test been excluded.

---

<sup>1</sup> The record is not clear as to the weight of the drugs on the scale, but the first bag entered into evidence most likely contained the cocaine found on top of the scale because it was photographed next to the positive field test swab. The first bag entered weighed approximately 41 grams. The majority of the two kilograms were found elsewhere in the house. (R. 365-67).

### Error Preservation/Waiver

“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.” State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003). A defendant who expressly consents to the admission of evidence in a trial waives that issue on appeal. State v. Johnson, 298 S.C. 496, 498, 381 S.E.2d 732, 733 (1989). “The rule is well established that if asserted errors are not presented to the lower Court, the question cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.” State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E. 2d 737, 742 (2005). “Our law is clear that a party must make a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial judge to preserve an issue for appellate review.” State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 420-21, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011).

Appellant did not preserve any objections to the search warrant or the drugs found during the search warrant because he did not challenge the search warrant at trial. (R. 334-35). However even if we assume that Appellant did preserve any issues with the search warrant on appeal, law enforcement would have secured a search warrant even without a field test being done. See Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431, 444 (1984) (“if the government can prove that the evidence would have been obtained inevitably and, therefore would have been admitted regardless of any overreaching by the police, there is no rational basis to keep that evidence from the jury in order to ensure the fairness of the trial proceedings.”). The combination of white powder on top of a digital scale along with money and guns being found on the floor was enough evidence for a magistrate to find probable cause to search Appellant’s home for drug related material.

### **Plain View**

“Under the plain view exception to the warrant requirement, objects falling within the plain view of a law enforcement officer who is rightfully in a position to view the objects are subject to seizure and may be introduced as evidence.” Wright, 391 S.C. at 443, 706 S.E.2d at 327. To satisfy the plain view exception, two requirements must be met: “(1) the initial intrusion which afforded the authorities the plain view was lawful and (2) the incriminating nature of the evidence was immediately apparent to the seizing authorities.” Id.

Here, the cocaine in Appellant’s bathroom was found by law enforcement during a lawful intrusion to Appellant’s home to search for a victim of domestic violence or a possible assailant. As previously argued in this brief, law enforcement’s intrusion was objectively reasonable based on the exigency of preventing an ongoing domestic attack. Once they were inside Appellant’s residence, law enforcement saw white powder in plain view on a digital scale in the bathroom. (R. 278). Based on the combination of white powder on top of a scale along with money and guns lying on the floor, law enforcement immediately suspected that some type of drug activity may be occurring at Appellant’s residence. (R. 34). Bowen and Alexander then appropriately seized the white powder in Appellant’s bathroom and performed a field test on it. (R. 278, 313-14). Because law enforcement appropriately seized the suspected drug material, they did not exceed the scope of the plain view exception by performing a field test on the powder.

### **Harmless Error**

An “error without prejudice does not warrant reversal.” State v. King, 367 S.C. 131, 136, 623 S.E.2d 865, 867 (Ct. App. 2005). “No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985). “Where a review

of the entire record establishes the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the conviction should not be reversed.” State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003). “Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.” Mitchell, 286 S.C. at 573, 336 S.E.2d at 151 (quoting State v. Key, 256 S.C. 90, 180 S.E.2d 888 (1971)). “The admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence.” State v. Kirton, 381 S.C. 7, 37, 671 S.E.2d 107, 122 (Ct. App. 2008).

Even if the trial judge had excluded the field test and the cocaine found on top of the scale, the remaining two kilograms of cocaine found inside Appellant’s home would still have been entered against him at trial. As previously noted, Appellant did not challenge the search warrant at trial. (R. 334-35). Therefore, any evidence that was seized as a result of the search warrant would have been admitted against Appellant regardless of the trial judge’s decision to admit the drugs found by Bowen and Alexander. Approximately two kilograms of cocaine were found as a result of the search warrant. (R. 365-67). Two kilograms is equal to two thousand grams. Accordingly, the amount of cocaine introduced against Appellant well exceeded the four hundred gram amount for which Appellant was standing trial. It is unlikely the jury would have failed to convict Appellant if the field test or small amount of cocaine found in the bathroom were suppressed by the trial judge. Any error by the trial judge in admitting the results of the field test or the cocaine in the bathroom was harmless. Appellant’s convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

### III.

**The trial judge properly admitted the drug evidence found inside Appellant's home because the evidence was found pursuant to a validly executed search warrant and not pursuant to a violation of S.C. Code § 16-25-70. However, even if the trial judge had admitted the evidence pursuant to a violation of S.C. Code § 16-25-70, the evidence was properly admitted pursuant to S.C. Code § 16-25-70(H)(1)(a) because law enforcement was pursuing a suspect of domestic violence.**

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